IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

ANTONIO GARDENHIRE, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated,

Civil Action No.: 2:24-cv-10855

Plaintiff,

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

v.

VOLVO CAR USA, LLC,

Defendant.

CLASS AND COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Antonio Gardenhire, through his undersigned counsel, individually and on behalf of himself and non-exempt hourly employees of Volvo Car USA, LLC ("Volvo"), files this Class and Collective Action Complaint ("Complaint") seeking all available remedies under the Fair Labor Standards Act ("FLSA"), 29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq., and South Carolina Payment of Wages Act ("SCPWA"), S.C. Code Ann § 41-10-10, et seq. Plaintiff asserts his FLSA claims as a collective action under 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and as a class action claim pursuant to FED. R. CIV. P. 23.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 1. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331, this Court has subject matter jurisdiction over Plaintiff's FLSA claims.
 - 2. This Court has supplemental jurisdiction over the Plaintiff's state law

claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367, because they arise out of the same transaction or occurrence as Plaintiff's federal claims.

- 3. This Court also has jurisdiction over Plaintiff's state law claims pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d), which provides federal district courts with original jurisdiction over civil actions in which the matter in controversy exceeds the sum or value of \$5,000,000, exclusive of interests and costs, and is a class action in which any member of a class of plaintiffs is a citizen of a state different from any defendant.
- 4. The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendant. Defendant transacts business and maintains substantial contacts in this judicial district.
- 5. Venue is proper in this judicial district pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and (c), because Defendant transacts business in, is found in, and/or has agents in this judicial district, and because some of the actions giving rise to this complaint took place within this district.

PARTIES

- 6. Plaintiff Antonio Gardenhire is a resident of Summerton, South Carolina. Pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), Plaintiff Gardenhire consented in writing to being a Plaintiff in this action. *See* Ex. A.
- 7. Defendant Volvo Car USA, LLC ("Volvo") is a limited liability company with its principal place of address and corporate headquarters located at 1800 Volvo Pl, Mahwah, NJ 07430. Volvo may be served with process by serving its

registered agent, CT Corporation System, 2 Office Park Court Suite 103, Columbia, South Carolina 29223.

- 8. At all times material to this action, Defendant has been engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for commerce as defined by the FLSA.
- 9. Defendant's employees are engaged in interstate commerce and handle or work on goods that have been moved in and/or produced in commerce.
- 10. Defendant's annual gross volume of sales made, or business done exceeds \$500,000.
- 11. The unlawful acts alleged in this Complaint were committed by Defendant and/or their officers, agents, employees, or representatives, including as alter egos of one another, while actively engaged in the management of Defendant's businesses or affairs and with the authorization of Defendant.
- 12. During all times relevant, Plaintiff was an employee of Defendant and is covered by the FLSA.
- 13. During all times relevant, Defendant was an employer and/or enterprise covered by the FLSA.

CLASS AND COLLECTIVE DEFINITIONS

14. Plaintiff brings Count I of this lawsuit pursuant to the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), as a collective action on behalf of himself and the following collective:

All current and former non-exempt hourly workers of Defendant who were required to don and doff personal protective equipment between

December 2, 2021 and the present in the United States (the "FLSA Collective").

15. Plaintiff brings Count II of this lawsuit as a class action pursuant to FED. R. CIV. P. 23, on behalf of himself and the following class:

All current and former non-exempt hourly workers of Defendant who were required to don and doff personal protective equipment between December 2, 2021 and the present in South Carolina (the "South Carolina Class").

- 16. The FLSA Collective and the South Carolina Class are together referred to as the "Classes" and the members of the Classes are "Class Members."
- 17. Plaintiff reserves the right to redefine the Collective and/or the South Carolina Class prior to notice or class certification, and thereafter, as may be warranted or necessary.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

- 18. This is an action brought on behalf of individuals who are current and former non-exempt workers employed by Defendant, challenging Defendant's unlawful failure to pay for "off-the-clock" work prior to and after Plaintiff's and Class Members' regularly scheduled shifts without receiving compensation for such "off-the-clock" activities in violation of the FLSA and SCPWA.
- 19. Plaintiff worked as a non-exempt hourly employee in the Volvo facility located in Ridgeville, South Carolina from February 2024 to September 2024.
 - 20. Plaintiff and other Class Members are not members of a union.

- 21. Plaintiff worked as a "Team Member" in Defendant's Paint Shop, located in "Building B," in quality Stations 15 and 16.
- 22. Paint Shop Station 15 examines vehicles for holes in sealing, dents, and assesses welding or frame issues. Station 16 performs water tests to ensure proper sealant on vehicles.
- 23. Plaintiff typically worked from 6:00 a.m. to 2:40 p.m. or 7:00 a.m. to 3:40 p.m. Monday through Friday, and occasionally worked an extra shift on Saturdays.
- 24. Plaintiff typically took a 40-minute meal break that was automatically deducted from his pay statements. Plaintiff could not leave Defendant's premises during his meal break because it would require him to don and doff his PPE and there was not enough time to do so.
- 25. Defendant required Plaintiff and Class Members to don and doff Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) before and after their schedule shifts.
- 26. Defendant's Employee Handbook states that Defendant "requires team members entering the production area to wear shop-approved team wear and the necessary PPE in accordance with the VCCH Site Safety Requirements Policy" and that "[t]eam wear will be issued to full-time Volvo Cars team members[.]" VCCH Employee Handbook, 2024, pgs. 41-42.
 - 27. Defendant requires all Class Members, regardless of their work location

or job duties, to wear PPE when entering production floors. Volvo's Employee handbook states that: "The PPE requirements . . . when entering the production floor are the same for every Volvo employee and contractor, regardless of department or support function." VCCH Employee Handbook, 2024, pg. 51. *See*:

VCCH PPE Requirements by Area:

Safety PPE Requirements for VCCH							
Building Location:	0	(1)	~	1	THE STATE OF THE S		
A Shop	Bump Cap (Where required)	Clear Safety Glasses	Safety Shoes	Fire Resistant (FR) Jacket Required. Hi Viz Clothing in Red Areas of the Shop (Logistics)	Cut Resistant Gloves when handling parts/material or		
B Shop	Ball Cap or Hair Net	Clear Safety Glasses	Safety Shoes	Coveralls Required. Hi Viz Clothing in Red Areas of the Shop (Logistics)	Cut Resistant Gloves when handling parts/material or objects with sharp edges		
C Shop, VPC & the FM Building (600)	N/A	Clear Safety Glasses (Where Required)	Safety Shoes	Hi Viz Clothing in Red Areas of the Shop (Logistics)	Cut Resistant Gloves when handling parts/material or objects with sharp edges		
NOTE: 1) Always remain on the sidewalks and out of any construction zone when walking from the parking lot or between buildings. 2) The PPE Requirements stated above when entering the production floor are the same for every Volvo employee and contractor, regardless of department or support function.							

- 28. Defendant requires that Plaintiff and Class Members arrive to their work shifts sufficiently early to don essential PPE and be dressed and ready prior to the beginning of their shifts.
- 29. Plaintiff and Class Members cannot begin working without donning the required protective gear.
- 30. To be on time for his scheduled start shift of 6:00 a.m. or 7:00 a.m., Plaintiff arrived at the Volvo South Carolina facility thirty (30) minutes prior to his

shift start time so that he could report to his workstation in his PPE by his shift start time.

- 31. Prior to their scheduled shift time, Plaintiff and Class Members routinely performed a variety of activities that constituted compensable work, including but not limited to:
 - a. walking to defendant's time clock;
 - b. walking to defendant's locker room/changing area;
 - c. donning specialized protective equipment and clothing issued and stored by Defendant, including safety boots, full body suit coverings, nylon cap coverings, safety glasses, and bump caps; and
 - d. walking to the work deck to report to their scheduled shifts.
- 32. It took Plaintiff 10 to 15 minutes from the parking lot to the timeclock to swipe into his shift and then another 10 to 15 minutes to walk to the changing room to don his PPE.
- 33. If Plaintiff arrived at the Volvo facility at shift start time, at 6:00 a.m. or 7:00 a.m., he would be considered tardy for his shift because he would not be dressed and ready in his PPE.
- 34. Defendant considers a tardy arrival an "occurrence" which will result in attendance points. Attendance points can result in a verbal warning, written warning, final written warning, or termination. VCCH Employee Handbook, 2024,

pg. 20.

- 35. Defendant does not allow Plaintiff and Class Members to take PPE out of the building.
- 36. Defendant requires the PPE to be stored on Defendant's premises to avoid any potential contamination with the vehicle paint, and Plaintiff and Class Members are required to don their PPE on the Defendant's premises.
- 37. Plaintiff and Class Members cannot don their PPE at home or in the parking lot.
- 38. Defendant failed to pay Plaintiff and Class Members for the time spent working prior to beginning of their scheduled shift.
- 39. Defendant paid Plaintiff and Class Members at their scheduled shift start time, regardless of the work they were required to do prior to the scheduled shift start.
- 40. In addition, at the end of each shift, Plaintiff and Class Members are required to perform the time-consuming task of doffing their personal protective equipment and returning the PPE to the appropriate location. This work takes substantial amount of time.
- 41. However, Defendant does not pay Plaintiff and Class Members for the time it takes to doff their PPE.
 - 42. Defendant stops paying Plaintiff and the Class Members at the time

their scheduled shift ends and does not pay them for doffing their specialized protective equipment or any other work.

- 43. Regardless of the time Plaintiff swiped in for his shift, Plaintiff's hours were adjusted to reflect his shift start and shift end times.
- 44. For example, on February 20, 2024, Plaintiff swiped in at 6:36 a.m. and swiped out at 3:43 p.m. but was only paid for eight (8) hours of work, demonstrating that he was only paid for the scheduled shift time. On this day, he was not paid for 27-minutes of recorded working time.
- 45. On March 1, 2024, Plaintiff clocked in at 5:45 a.m. and out at 2:51 p.m., but again was only paid for eight (8) hours of work. On this day, he was not paid for 26-minutes of recorded working time.
- 46. On August 28, 2024, Plaintiff clocked in at 5:48 a.m. and out at 2:47 p.m., but again was only paid for eight (8) hours of work. On this day, he was not paid for 19-minutes of recorded working time.
- 47. All of the unpaid pre-shift and post-shift work performed is an integral and indispensable part of the principal work activities of Plaintiff and Class Members.
- 48. Considering that Plaintiff and other similarly situated Class Members worked forty (40) or more hours during weekly pay periods, had they properly been compensated for all "off-the-clock" work, such time would have been added to their

overtime hours and treated as overtime for purposes of calculating and computing overtime compensation under the FLSA.

- 49. Plaintiff and other Class Members sometimes worked less than 40 hours in a workweek. In such workweeks, the off-the-clock work described herein constitutes unpaid gap time, for which Plaintiff and the Class Members are entitled to be paid at their regular hourly rates of pay.
- 50. For example, during the week of pay period beginning April 15, 2024 and ending April 21, 2024, Defendant recorded only 38.75 hours of work for Plaintiff. Plaintiff is entitled to be paid (but was not paid) his regular hourly rates for the time worked off-the-clock (*i.e.*, his unpaid gap time) for that week.
- 51. Defendant knew or should have known that the work that they required of Plaintiff and other Class Members should have been paid for all time worked before and after their regularly scheduled shift under the FLSA and SCPWA.
- 52. Upon information and belief, Class Members that work in Defendant's other buildings at the South Carolina facility, as well as Defendant's other manufacturing plants, are also required to don and doff personal protective equipment provided by and required by Defendant and are not paid for this pre- and post-shift "off-the-clock" work.

COLLECTIVE ACTION ALLEGATIONS

53. Plaintiff brings this lawsuit pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) as a

collective action on behalf of the FLSA Collective defined above.

- 54. Plaintiff desires to pursue this FLSA claim on behalf of any individuals who opt-in to this action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).
- 55. Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective are "similarly situated," as that term is used in 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), because, inter alia, all such individuals worked pursuant to the Defendant's previously described common pay and timekeeping practices and, as a result of such practices, were not paid the full and legally mandated overtime premium for hours worked over forty (40) during the workweek. Resolution of this action requires inquiry into common facts, including, inter alia, Defendant's common compensation, timekeeping and payroll practices.
- 56. The FLSA Collective Members have the same or closely similar job duties as the Plaintiff, and Plaintiff and all Collective Members were paid by Defendant in the same manner, in violation of the FLSA. Accordingly, the named Plaintiff is similarly situated to all FLSA Collective Members.
- 57. Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective performed the same type of work, the manner and terms of which were controlled by the Defendant and were not paid for all time worked or at the proper overtime rate as required by federal law.
- 58. The similarly situated employees are known to Defendant, are readily identifiable, and may be located through Defendant's records.
 - 59. Defendant employs many FLSA Collective Members throughout South

Carolina. These similarly situated employees may be readily notified of this action through direct U.S. mail and/or other appropriate means and allowed to opt into it pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) for the purpose of collectively adjudicating their claims for overtime compensation, liquidated damages (or, alternatively, interest), and attorneys' fees and costs under the FLSA.

CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

- 60. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing allegations as if set forth herein.
- 61. Plaintiff brings this action as a class action pursuant to FED. R. CIV. P. 23 on behalf of himself and the South Carolina Class defined above.
- 62. The members of the South Carolina Class are so numerous that joinder of all members is impracticable. Upon information and belief, there are more than 100 members of the South Carolina Class.
- 63. Defendant has engaged in the same conduct towards Plaintiff and the other members of the South Carolina Class.
- 64. The injuries and damages to the South Carolina Class present questions of law and fact that are common to each class member within the South Carolina Class, and that are common to the South Carolina Class as a whole.
- 65. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the South Carolina Class, and all of its proposed class members because there is no

conflict between the claims of Plaintiff and those of the South Carolina Class, and Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the South Carolina Class.

- 66. Plaintiff's counsel are competent and experienced in litigating class actions and other complex litigation matters, including wage and hour cases like this one.
- 67. Class certification is appropriate under FED. R. CIV. P. 23(B)(3) because questions of law and fact common to the South Carolina Class predominate over any questions affecting only individual Class members including, without limitation: whether Defendant failed to pay them the full amount of overtime compensation earned.
- 68. Plaintiff's claims are typical of the claims of the South Carolina Class in the following ways, without limitation: (a) Plaintiff is a member of the South Carolina Class; (b) Plaintiff's claims arise out of the same policies, practices and course of conduct that form the basis of the claims of the South Carolina Class; (c) Plaintiff's claims are based on the same legal and remedial theories as those of the South Carolina Class and involve similar factual circumstances; (d) there are no conflicts between the interests of Plaintiff and the South Carolina Class members; and (e) the injuries suffered by Plaintiff are similar to the injuries suffered by the South Carolina Class members.
 - 69. Class action treatment is superior to the alternatives for the fair and

efficient adjudication of the controversy alleged herein. Such treatment will permit a large number of similarly situated individuals to prosecute their common claims in a single forum simultaneously, efficiently, and without the duplication of effort and expense that numerous individual actions would entail. No difficulties are likely to be encountered in the management of this class action that would preclude its maintenance as a class action, and no superior alternative exists for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy. The South Carolina Class is readily identifiable from Defendant's own employment records. Prosecution of separate actions by individual members of the South Carolina Class would create the risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual Class members that would establish incompatible standards of conduct for Defendant.

- 70. A class action is superior to other available methods for adjudication of this controversy because joinder of all members is impractical. Further, the amounts at stake for many of the South Carolina Class members, while substantial, are not great enough to enable them to maintain separate suits against Defendant.
- 71. Without a class action, Defendant will unjustly retain the benefit of their wrongdoing, which will result in further damages to Plaintiff and the South Carolina Class. Plaintiff envisions no difficulty in the management of this action as a class action.

COUNT I Violation of the FLSA - Overtime (On Behalf of the Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective)

- 72. All previous paragraphs are incorporated as though fully set forth herein.
- 73. The FLSA requires that covered employees be compensated for all hours worked in excess of forty (40) hours per week at a rate not less than one and one-half (1 ½) times the regular rate at which he or she is employed. *See* 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1).
- 74. Defendant is subject to the wage requirements of the FLSA because Defendant is an "employer" under 29 U.S.C. § 203(d).
- 75. At all relevant times, Defendant was an "employer" engaged in interstate commerce and/or in the production of goods for commerce within the meaning of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C. § 203.
- 76. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and Collective Members were covered employees entitled to the above-described FLSA protections. *See* 29 U.S.C. § 203(e).
- 77. Plaintiff and Collective Members are not exempt from the requirements of the FLSA.
- 78. Plaintiff and Collective Members are entitled to be paid overtime compensation for all hours worked over forty (40) in a workweek pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1).

- 79. Defendant's compensation scheme applicable to Plaintiff and Collective Members failed to comply with either 29 U.S.C. § 207(a)(1) or 29 C.F.R. § 778.112.
- 80. Defendant also failed to create, keep and preserve records with respect to work performed by the Plaintiff and the FLSA Collective sufficient to determine their wages, hours and other conditions of employment in violation of the FLSA, 29 U.S.C.A. § 211(c); 29 C.F.R. §§ 516.5(a), 516.6(a)(1), 516.2(c).
- 81. In violating the FLSA, Defendant acted willfully and with reckless disregard of clearly applicable FLSA provisions.
- 82. Defendant is liable to Plaintiff and other members of the class for actual damages, liquidated damages and equitable relief, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), as well as reasonable attorneys' fees, costs and expenses.

COUNT II

South Carolina Payment Of Wages Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-30 (On Behalf of the Plaintiff and the South Carolina Class)

- 83. All above-alleged paragraphs are incorporated herein by reference.
- 84. Plaintiff and similarly situated non-exempt employees seek to recover wages for all the times they worked "off the clock" and worked less than forty (40) hours in a work week. During those work weeks Plaintiff and South Carolina Class Members are seeking to recover their regular hourly rate.
 - 85. At all relevant times, Defendant was an "employer" as defined by S.C.

Code § 41-10-10(1).

- 86. At all relevant times, Plaintiff and South Carolina Class Members were covered employees of Defendant.
- 87. Defendant failed to pay "wages," as defined by S.C. Code §41-10-10(2), and pursuant to Plaintiff's employment agreement.
- 88. S.C. Code §41-10-10(2) defines "wages" as all amounts at which labor rendered is recompensed, whether the amount is fixed or ascertained on a time, task, piece, or commission basis, or other method of calculating the amount and includes vacation, holiday, and sick leave payments which are due to an employee under any employer policy or employment contract.
- 89. Defendant violated Plaintiff's and South Carolina Class Members' employment agreement and the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act by not compensating Plaintiff and similarly situated non-exempt employees, for the compensable "off the clock" work they performed that was less than forty (40) hours in a work week.
- 90. Plaintiff and South Carolina Class Members are owed wages pursuant to the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act because the Defendant did not pay Plaintiff and South Carolina Class Members their wages due per their employment agreement.
 - 91. Defendant refused to pay Plaintiff's wages due, as required by S.C.

Code §41-10-40 and -50.

92. Pursuant to S.C. Code §41-10-80(C), Plaintiff and South Carolina Class Members are entitled to recover in this action an amount equal to three times the full amount of their unpaid wages, plus costs and reasonable attorney's fees.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff seeks the following relief on his own behalf and all others similarly situated:

- a. An order permitting this litigation to proceed as an FLSA collective action pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b);
- b. An order permitting this litigation to proceed as a class action pursuant to FED. R. CIV. P. 23 on behalf of the South Carolina Class;
- c. Prompt notice, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), of this litigation to all potential FLSA Collective members;
- d. For unpaid wages as may be owed and prejudgment interest to the fullest extent permitted under the law;
- e. Liquidated damages to the fullest extent permitted under the law;
- f. Treble damages pursuant to the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act;
- a. Litigation costs, expenses and attorneys' fees to the fullest extent permitted under the law; and
- b. Such other and further relief as this Court deems just and proper.

JURY DEMAND

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury for all issues of fact.

Dated: December 2, 2024 Respectfully Submitted,

<u>/s/ Camille Fundora Rodriguez</u> Camille Fundora Rodriguez

Olivia S. Lanctot **BERGER MONTAGUE PC**1818 Market Street, Suite 3600
Philadelphia, PA 19103
Tel.: (215) 875-4635
crodriguez@bm.net
olanctot@bm.net

Mariyam Hussain, pro hac vice forthcoming **BERGER MONTAGUE PC**1720 W. Division
Chicago, IL 60622
Tel.: (773) 666-4316
mhussain@bm.net

EXHIBIT A

CONSENT TO JOIN AND AUTHORIZATION TO REPRESENT

Pursuant to the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 216(b)

- 1. I consent and agree to pursue my claims under the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. §§ 201, et seq. ("FLSA") arising out of my work with Volvo Car USA LLC and/or related entities and individuals ("Volvo").
- 2. I worked for Volvo from on or about <u>February, 2024</u> (month, year) to on or about <u>September, 2024</u> (month, year). During this time, I worked for Volvo in the following state(s): South Carolina
- 3. I understand that this lawsuit is brought under the FLSA. I hereby consent, agree, and "opt in" to become a plaintiff herein and to be bound by any judgment by the Court or any settlement of this action.
- 4. I hereby designate Berger Montague PC, at 1818 Market Street, Suite 3600, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103, ("Plaintiff's Counsel"), to represent me for all purposes in this action or any subsequent action against Volvo.
- 5. I also designate the named Plaintiff in this action, the collective action representative, as my agent to make decisions on my behalf concerning the litigation, including the method and manner of conducting this litigation, entering into settlement agreements, entering into an agreement with Plaintiff's Counsel concerning attorneys' fees and costs, and all other matters pertaining to this lawsuit.

Signature:	Signed by: (int 1) Mark
Date:	2DE6AAE4AD17452 10/30/2024
Name:	Antonio Gardenhire
Address:	
Telephone:	
E-Mail:	

COMPLETE AND RETURN TO:

BERGER MONTAGUE PC Attn: Noel Hemphill 1818 Market Street, Suite 3600 Philadelphia, PA 19103 Tel: (215) 875-3033

Fax: (215) 875-4604 Email: nhemphill@bm.net

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

District of New Jersey						
ANTONIO GARDENHIRE, individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated))))					
Plaintiff(s))					
v.) Civil Action No. 2:24-cv-10855					
VOLVO CAR USA, LLC)					
)))					
Defendant(s))					
SUMMONS	IN A CIVIL ACTION					
To: (Defendant's name and address) VOLVO CAR USA, LLC via its Registered Agen' CT Corporation System 2 Office Park Court, Sui Columbia, SC 29223	t 1					
A lawsuit has been filed against you.						
are the United States or a United States agency, or an of P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an	PC ite 3600					
If you fail to respond, judgment by default will You also must file your answer or motion with the cour	be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. t.					
	CLERK OF COURT					
Date:						
	Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk					

AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No. 2:24-cv-10855

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

		ne of individual and title, if any)					
was re	ceived by me on (date)	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·					
	☐ I personally served	the summons on the individual a	at (place)				
		; or					
	☐ I left the summons						
	, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,						
	on (date), and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or, I served the summons on (name of individual), we have the summons on (name of individual)						
	designated by law to a	accept service of process on beha	alf of (name of organization)				
		; or					
	☐ I returned the sumn	I returned the summons unexecuted because					
	☐ Other (specify):						
	My fees are \$	for travel and \$	for services, for a total of \$	0.00			
	I declare under penalty	of perjury that this information	is true.				
Date:							
Date.			Server's signature				
			Printed name and title				
			Server's address				

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

JS 44 (Rev. 03/24) Case 2:24-cv-10855 Document & Ov Files 112/02/24 Page 1 of 2 PageID: 24

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS				DEFENDANTS						
ANTONIO GARDENHIRE, individually and on behalf of others similarly situated,			of all	VOLVO CAR USA, LLC						
•	(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff Clarendon County,				County of Residence of First Listed Defendant					
	(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES)			(IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY) NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES. USE THE LOCATION OF						
(a) 144 (75 14				THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.						
	Address, and Telephone Number 1 Rodriguez, BERGE		C	Attorneys (If Known)						
	eet, Ste 3600, Philac									
	crodriauez@bm.net									
II. BASIS OF JURISD	ICTION (Place an "X" in (One Box Only)	III. CI	FIZENSHIP OF PF (For Diversity Cases Only)	RINCIPAI		Place an "X" in (nd One Box for I			
1 U.S. Government Plaintiff	—		Citize	en of This State		Incorporated or Print of Business In TI	ncipal Place	PTF 4	DEF 4	
2 U.S. Government Defendant			Citize	ten of Another State 2 2 Incorporated and Principal Pl of Business In Another Sta			5	5		
				ten or Subject of a 3 Foreign Nation oreign Country			<u> </u>	<u></u> 6		
IV. NATURE OF SUIT	(Place an "X" in One Box Oni		EC	ORFEITURE/PENALTY		for: Nature of St KRUPTCY		SCRIPTION STATUT		
110 Insurance	PERSONAL INJURY	PERSONAL INJURY		5 Drug Related Seizure		eal 28 USC 158	375 False C			
120 Marine 130 Miller Act 140 Negotiable Instrument	310 Airplane [315 Airplane Product Liability	365 Personal Injury - Product Liability 367 Health Care/	69	of Property 21 USC 881 0 Other	28 U	423 Withdrawal 28 USC 157 INTELLECTUAL		376 Qui Tam (31 USC 3729(a)) 400 State Reapportionment		
150 Recovery of Overpayment	320 Assault, Libel &	Pharmaceutical				RTY RIGHTS	410 Antitrust			
& Enforcement of Judgment 151 Medicare Act	Slander 330 Federal Employers'	Personal Injury Product Liability			820 Copy 830 Pater		430 Banks a 450 Commo		ng	
152 Recovery of Defaulted Student Loans	Liability 340 Marine	368 Asbestos Personal Injury Product			835 Pater	nt - Abbreviated	460 Deportation 470 Racketeer Influence		nced and	
(Excludes Veterans)	345 Marine Product	Liability			840 Trad	lemark Corrupt Organ		t Organiza	itions	
153 Recovery of Overpayment of Veteran's Benefits	Liability 350 Motor Vehicle	PERSONAL PROPERT 370 Other Fraud		LABOR 0 Fair Labor Standards		d Trade Secrets 480 Consumo 2016 (15 USC		ner Credit SC 1681 or		
160 Stockholders' Suits	355 Motor Vehicle	371 Truth in Lending	F ₇₂	Act			485 Telephone Consumer Protection Act 490 Cable/Sat TV			
190 Other Contract 195 Contract Product Liability	Product Liability 360 Other Personal	380 Other Personal Property Damage	$H^{\prime 2}$	0 Labor/Management Relations	861 HIA	(1395ff)				
196 Franchise	Injury 362 Personal Injury -	385 Property Damage Product Liability		0 Railway Labor Act 1 Family and Medical		k Lung (923) C/DIWW (405(g))	850 Securit Exchar		odities/	
	Medical Malpractice	•		Leave Act	864 SSID	Title XVI	890 Other S	Statutory A		
REAL PROPERTY 210 Land Condemnation	CIVIL RIGHTS 440 Other Civil Rights	PRISONER PETITIONS Habeas Corpus:		0 Other Labor Litigation 1 Employee Retirement	865 RSI ((405(g))	891 Agricul 893 Environ			
220 Foreclosure	441 Voting	463 Alien Detainee		Income Security Act		L TAX SUITS	895 Freedon	m of Infor	mation	
230 Rent Lease & Ejectment 240 Torts to Land	442 Employment 443 Housing/	510 Motions to Vacate Sentence			or D	s (U.S. Plaintiff efendant)	Act 896 Arbitra	tion		
245 Tort Product Liability 290 All Other Real Property	Accommodations 445 Amer. w/Disabilities -	530 General 535 Death Penalty		IMMIGRATION	_	Third Party JSC 7609	899 Admini			
	Employment Other:			462 Naturalization Application		350 7009	Act/Review or Appeal of Agency Decision			
	446 Amer. w/Disabilities - Other	540 Mandamus & Other 550 Civil Rights	n Actions				950 Constit State St		of	
	448 Education	555 Prison Condition 560 Civil Detainee -								
		Conditions of								
V. ORIGIN (Place an "X" in	l n One Box Only)	Confinement			<u> </u>					
x 1 Original 2 Ren	noved from 3 F	Remanded from	ı	stated or 5 Transfer bened Another	rred from r District	6 Multidistric		Multidis Litigatio		
				(specify)	•	Transfer		Direct F	ile	
VI. CAUSE OF ACTIO	29 U.S.C. § 216(b)		filing (I	Oo not cite jurisdictional stati	utes unless div	ersity):				
	Brief description of cat Class and collective acti									
VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:	CHECK IF THIS I UNDER RULE 23	S A CLASS ACTION , F.R.Cv.P.	D	EMAND \$		HECK YES only i	f demanded in	n complai		
VIII. RELATED CASI IF ANY	(See instructions):	JUDGE			DOCKE	ET NUMBER				
DATE		SIGNATURE OF ATT	ORNEY ()F RECORD	DOCKL					
Dec 2, 2024										
FOR OFFICE USE ONLY			18							
RECEIPT # AM	MOUNT	APPLYING IFP		JUDGE		MAG. JUD	GE			

INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44

Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

- **I.(a) Plaintiffs-Defendants.** Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and then the official, giving both name and title.
- (b) County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.)
- (c) Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting in this section "(see attachment)".
- II. Jurisdiction. The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X" in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below.

 United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here. United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box. Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.

 Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity cases.)
- III. Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this section for each principal party.
- IV. Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code that is most applicable. Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.
- V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.
 - Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.

Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441. Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing date.

Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date. Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or multidistrict litigation transfers.

Multidistrict Litigation – Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1407.

Multidistrict Litigation – Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket. **PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7.** Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to changes in statute.

- VI. Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. **Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity.** Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service.
- VII. Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P.

 Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction.

 Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.
- VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related cases, if any. If there are related cases, insert the docket numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.